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● (1635)

[English]
The Chair (Hon. John McKay (Scarborough—Guildwood,

Lib.)): I think I saw Commissioner Lucki on the call, and Minister
Blair is here.

With that I call to order the 32nd meeting of the Standing Com‐
mittee on Public Safety and National Security.

The meeting is pursuant to the motion adopted December 7. It is
resuming the study of the final report of the implementation of the
Merlo Davidson settlement agreement. Mr. Justice Bastarache ap‐
peared before the committee and I don't think there was any one of
our members who was not shocked by what he had to say. There‐
fore, I'm grateful that the minister and the commissioner are able to
appear.

We will be going for two hours. We've arranged for that, but
we've also arranged for a 15-minute in camera session after the ap‐
pearance of the commissioner and the minister to discuss what
we've heard.

With that, I propose to ask the minister for his seven-minute pre‐
sentation, followed by, I'm assuming, Commissioner Lucki, and
then we'll get right into questions. The minister will leave after one
hour and we will continue on. I see really no benefit in interrupting
the flow of questions, so we'll just keep on moving through the
questions round after round.

With that, Minister Blair, welcome once again to the committee.
Hon. Bill Blair (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency

Preparedness): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thanks also to the committee members for the opportunity to
come before you today and to speak on these very important mat‐
ters.

If I may, Mr. Chair, I would like to begin my remarks by express‐
ing my sincere and deepest sympathies following the revelation of
the 215 children's remains found in an unmarked grave at a residen‐
tial school in Kamloops, British Columbia. These children were
taken from their parents, forced to attend a residential school and
never returned to their families. The tragic legacy of residential
schools and the Government of Canada's role could not be more
profoundly illustrated than through the discovery of the children's
graves.

In addition, I want to acknowledge the clear and unavoidable
RCMP role in that tragedy. I also acknowledge the role of the gov‐
ernment in which we all serve. Over the past two years—and even

today—I have spent considerable time discussing with Commis‐
sioner Lucki the RCMP's work towards reconciliation. The com‐
missioner has assured me that the RCMP will offer its full support
as we seek to learn more about the events in Kamloops. It will pro‐
vide assistance as required in communities right across Canada.

As Canada mourns with the Tk'emlúps te Secwépemc first nation
and all indigenous people, I think it's very clear that we must con‐
tinue to strive to improve upon the services provided to indigenous
people and communities across Canada. Thank you for allowing me
to speak to that issue.

I am here today in response to the committee's study on issues
surrounding Justice Bastarache’s report on gender- and sexual ori‐
entation-based harassment and discrimination in the RCMP.

The Bastarache report highlights far too many cases of work‐
place harassment and sexual misconduct that have deeply affected
women and the LGBTQ2S+ members within the RCMP. Notwith‐
standing the many that were reported, we know it is likely that
many went unreported.

Let me also state unequivocally that all Canadians deserve to feel
safe from harassment and violence. That is why our government
has explicitly mandated the commissioner of the RCMP to protect
all employees of our organization, civilian and sworn, from this
type of harassment and violence. After all, the women and mem‐
bers of the LGBTQ2S+ community who experienced this harass‐
ment had to consider how it would affect their careers, their
chances of promotion and even their personal safety if they report‐
ed it.

I spoke with the commissioner as soon as the report was re‐
leased. I emphasized that these unacceptable patterns of behaviour
must end and a comprehensive plan must be implemented to ad‐
dress the report’s findings and recommendations.

I have also reached out and spoken at some length with Justice
Bastarache to inform him of my commitment to support the com‐
missioner in bringing about the necessary changes as well as in
overseeing the reform of the RCMP, which will be guided by his
recommendations.

Today I am very encouraged to report that implementation of
many of the recommendations in the final report is well under way.
I know that Commissioner Lucki will speak in greater detail on that
progress and on forward priorities to address crucial issues of
equality. However, if I may, I would like to highlight a few key
points.
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First of all, a new independent centre for harassment resolution
will begin operating later this month to help ensure impartiality and
consistency in decision-making and disciplinary action. Prior to
2019, cases of sexual harassment tended to be handled entirely in‐
ternally within the RCMP. This approach did not enable survivors
to feel heard or believed, nor did it give rise to the belief that of‐
fenders would be held accountable.

With the establishment of the ICHR, through external investiga‐
tors, we seek to increase trust, address concerns of retribution and
bias, and ensure that appropriate discipline is taken—up to and in‐
cluding termination of offenders. It will also work to address gaps,
including consistency of decision-making and timeliness of investi‐
gations. It will also address the lack, in many cases, of well-trained
investigators, follow-up, early intervention tools and informal con‐
flict management.

The ICHR will align with the new Canada Labour Code work‐
place harassment and violence prevention regulations under Bill
C-65. Unfortunately, measures alone cannot be applied after the
fact. We also need to invest heavily in preventing harassment from
happening in the first place.

To that end, a GBA+ review is being performed on the training
curriculum. This is in addition to a review of the paramilitary as‐
pects of training at Depot. This is in an effort to affect a cultural
change in attitude towards workplace harassment and violence
within the organization, beginning at the very start of a member’s
career.

To prevent retaliation or recurrence, managers and supervisors
are being provided with the necessary tools and resources to per‐
form workplace restoration activities. To promote greater account‐
ability, these will be tracked in the conflict resolution plan as part
of the overall case resolution process.
● (1640)

The RCMP must effectively identify, correct and eliminate mis‐
conduct in their ranks. As the commissioner will shortly explain,
the RCMP will launch an external review of their conduct and dis‐
ciplinary processes. The commissioner and I have not been satisfied
to this point with the pace of change that is expected in a modern
law enforcement body. Canadians expect that the worst behaviour
in the RCMP will result in serious disciplinary action on a consis‐
tent basis. As minister, that is my expectation as well.

I'm also happy to report that the RCMP has launched a compre‐
hensive equity, diversity and inclusion strategy to address systemic
barriers for diverse groups. This will work to establish transparent
and accountable practices; stronger education, awareness and train‐
ing regimes; and the foundations for culture change within the
RCMP. I also know that Commissioner Lucki will describe how the
RCMP is modernizing the recruitment and onboarding processes,
including introducing new tools to assess character and detect bias.

We have a duty, all of us, to do the necessary work to prevent ha‐
rassment and discrimination from ever occurring again. Women and
members of the LGBTQ2S community must feel safe in coming
forward to report all forms of harassment. They must know that
they will be heard, believed and supported. These difficult calls
must be met with a transparent investigation, with tangible conse‐

quences for those responsible, while actively supporting survivors
who have the courage to speak out.

We know that we have to work hard to change the culture that
persists not only in the RCMP but throughout all policing and
paramilitary organizations. The commissioner shares my conviction
that the culture must evolve and it must change. I will support her
throughout to address root causes and modernize the training as we
work to prevent the unacceptable incidents of behaviour outlined in
the Bastarache report from ever occurring again.

Thank you, Mr. Chair. I look forward to an opportunity to answer
the questions of committee members.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister Blair.

Commissioner Lucki, do you have a statement that you wish to
start with?

Commissioner Brenda Lucki (Commissioner, Royal Canadi‐
an Mounted Police): Yes, I do.

The Chair: Okay. Thank you.

[Translation]

Commr Brenda Lucki: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair, and mem‐
bers of the committee.

[English]

Thank you for the invitation to speak on the important issues
raised in the final report of the independent assessor.

I would like to acknowledge that I'm speaking to you on unceded
Algonquin territory.

Later today, I will have with me Gail Johnston, our chief human
resource officer; Kevin Stringer, our chief administrative officer;
and Nadine Huggins, our executive director for HR policies, strate‐
gies and programs. We are all excited to speak to you today about
the progress we're making at the RCMP.

The independent assessor's report was hard to read for many, in‐
cluding me, but I am so grateful to Justice Bastarache and his team,
and to the women who came forward despite the pain it caused. As
a woman with 34 years of experience in the RCMP, I come to this
role with a lot of first-hand experience.

[Translation]

I have seen a lot of change, and I know that a lot is left to do. I
am privileged to get to be part of moving us forward.

[English]

As Justice Bastarache said—

The Chair: Excuse me for a second, Commissioner.

We're getting some sort of background noise. I'm not quite sure
what the background noise is.
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Perhaps you could continue. We'll see whether the background
noise continues. Thank you.

I'm sorry to interrupt.
● (1645)

Commr Brenda Lucki: No problem.

As Justice Bastarache said in his report—
The Chair: I think we're getting it again.

It's the interpretation.

Can I get the clerk to intervene here?
The Clerk of the Committee (Mr. Mark D'Amore): We are

looking into it right now, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: We'll give it one more go. If not, we'll suspend for a

minute or two until we get it organized.

I apologize once again. Please continue.
Commr Brenda Lucki: As I said, Justice Bastarache said in his

report, “This is a long-term endeavour that requires vision, leader‐
ship and determination over a decade or more.” This means taking
strong action now to set the foundation to support long-term
change, and that's exactly what we're doing.

I was given a mandate to modernize the organization and its cul‐
ture, so preventing harassment and bad behaviour of all kinds
means establishing the foundation to attract and retain the right
people, because we have a healthy workplace that is barrier-free.
We need to support our employees to deal with workplace issues at
the earliest point, and create a culture where people are not afraid to
speak up.

This will not be accomplished by checking a box on the latest re‐
port. We need to challenge our norms. We need to be creative and
open. We need to listen to the people most affected, build relation‐
ships of trust and stay focused on the long term.

Since I took the chair, we have set a more holistic path forward.
My goal is to ensure that, no matter who sits in this chair, change
will continue because we've set up the right foundation. We have
focused on four areas: accountable governance; inclusive leader‐
ship; equity, diversity and inclusion; and trusted resolutions mecha‐
nisms. By staying the course, we have already moved the yardsticks
on many of the themes identified in this report.

I won't get into a long laundry list, but I do want to focus on
what I sincerely believe to be the most significant areas of change.

First, we have improved the diversity at the top. It has both sym‐
bolic and real impacts. Not only can diverse people see themselves
in our most senior leaders but our decision-making is much better.
My senior executive team is more diverse and more balanced,
whether it be gender, civilian or other forms of diversity.

More than 50% of our commanding officers are female, as an ex‐
ample. It has improved the discussions we have and changed how
we approach issues in the RCMP. We're also working with our ex‐
ternal management advisory board, which brings even more exper‐
tise and diversity.

Second, we have worked hard to develop a new model to deal
with harassment complaints. I am glad to say that the independent
centre for harassment resolution will be launched by June 30, 2021.
It's in line with the recommendations. It's outside the chain of com‐
mand, and it uses external investigators to ensure it is trusted and
unbiased.

We believe this will improve trust and give people the confi‐
dence to speak out. The centre is also focused on prevention, pro‐
viding informal conflict management tools to deal with things at the
lowest level and to analyze what works to prevent such behaviour.

We have more to do. We will soon launch an external review of
our conduct process and disciplinary measures to make sure our
sanctions are effective and in line with modern expectations.

Third, we have new tools to detect and eliminate systemic dis‐
crimination. Gender-based analysis plus is an approach we rolled
out across our organization, starting with our senior decision-mak‐
ing. It gives us the lens we need to identify barriers faced by wom‐
en and diverse groups, and to see things in a different way.

The GBA+ has led to many specific but meaningful changes:
Our uniforms are more inclusive. Our promotion process is more
equitable. Our awards and recognition policies now recognize leave
without pay for parental leave when counting years of service, and
we've removed barriers in our recruitment process for our northern
applicants.

These are just a few examples, but together they really do
amount to a lot.

We also recently launched the first-ever RCMP equity, diversity
and inclusion strategy to guide and measure improvements across
the RCMP.

Fourth, we have made a commitment to a modern recruitment
process, and we are taking the time to get it right. It starts, obvious‐
ly, with figuring out who we're trying to attract in 2021. Times have
changed, and so have expectations.

The role of a police officer is complex, and we know it requires a
wide range of skills. We've worked with external experts to define
the attributes and characteristics needed for modern policing. We're
identifying new tools to assess the characteristics we're looking for,
including screening for things like racist and sexist beliefs, which
was brought up by this committee in a previous session.
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● (1650)

[Translation]

We have made changes to our recruitment strategies to make sure
our recruiters reflect the diversity we seek. We continue to review
each part of our recruitment process to make it modern and barrier-
free.

[English]

Lastly, we made a commitment to building leaders. Leadership
and the tone at the top is one of my biggest priorities. Having a
more diverse set of leaders around me has been so important. We
have started to implement a leader character approach to our leader‐
ship development and training.

In the past, we've done a good job at measuring and developing
operational skills, but now we need to do the same to help us assess
and develop overall character and good judgment. We think the
“leader character” model will be a game-changer in ensuring we
have the right people doing the right job. It's an approach that we
want to integrate from the start with applicants and continue to
build throughout our employees' careers.

[Translation]

My vision is an RCMP that attracts great people into a workplace
that welcomes and includes them and embraces diversity. This is
the key to delivering excellence in our organization.

[English]

I've given you just a few examples of where we've implemented
real changes. I feel and I see the changes every day. I also acknowl‐
edge that there are still key issues to address in our organization
and in our society as a whole to achieve equity. The independent
assessor touched on a few, such as better support for parents, which
is important to women's participation in the workforce and in any
sector.

Our vast geography, however, creates even bigger challenges,
and it can be hard to find the supports and the resources we need to
fully support our employees. We need to have creative solutions,
which are not always about more resources but about finding new
ways of doing things. For example, we look at different service de‐
livery models that will benefit both communities and our employ‐
ees, like the fly-in models we use in some northern jurisdictions.

I don't have the full set of solutions here today, but I do know
that we won't achieve equity unless we work together and address
these larger issues. I am so committed to continue to advance
change and modernization, as is my entire senior executive team.
I'm committed to listening to the people most affected and continu‐
ing to expand that circle.

I am committed to partnering with others to explore what we can
do to address these issues, so I do truly welcome your comments,
ideas and suggestions. Your expertise and influence will allow my
team to find solutions. I look forward to your discussion today.

[Translation]

Thank you.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner Lucki.

With that, we go to our first round of six minutes each, with Mr.
Motz, Madam Khera, Madam Larouche and Mr. Harris, in that or‐
der.

Mr. Motz, you have six minutes, please.

Mr. Glen Motz (Medicine Hat—Cardston—Warner, CPC):
Thank you, Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner and Minister, for being here today.

My first question is for the minister.

Minister, you and I share a similar history, in that the leadership
of both of the municipal police services that you and I served in an‐
swered to and had a governing body—a police services board or a
police commission—attached to it. In November, when this report
came out, you said that good policing starts with good governance,
and I couldn't agree with you more.

Where are you at in that process of implementing good gover‐
nance within the RCMP?

Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you very much, Mr. Motz.

I stand by that comment. I agree that both of us, in our experi‐
ences in municipal policing, have experienced, of course, a differ‐
ent governance model. I will tell you that there are ongoing discus‐
sions, first of all with respect to indigenous policing. I'm sure you're
aware that we are undertaking a process of co-production of the
new legislative framework for indigenous policing. At the heart of
that discussion and that new legislative framework will be a new
governance model for policing in first nations.

There are also ongoing discussions with the contracting of polic‐
ing jurisdictions in our provinces and territories. A number of those
areas are already looking at their own police services act, and there
are ongoing discussions among us with respect to new approaches
to governance within the RCMP.

One of the things we've heard very clearly that I think speaks to
some of the things we've spoken about earlier today is the need for
an independent and external review of complaints, but also the new
harassment resolution process that we announced. We—

Mr. Glen Motz: Minister, thank you. That leads me to my next
question.

More specifically, in the report, Justice Bastarache stated that
necessary reform within the RCMP will not take place “without ex‐
ternal pressure”. You have said that you've already started an exter‐
nal review of the RCMP and that you would have more to say “in
the coming weeks”. That was seven months ago, back in Novem‐
ber.

Specifically, is there anything you have done in the meantime to
start this external review? What exactly does that look like?
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● (1655)

Hon. Bill Blair: Yes, the very first area we began looking at in
direct response to the Bastarache report was the establishment of an
external review process for complaints of harassment resolution.
We've been working very closely with the RCMP in the develop‐
ment of the ICHR. That's a $32-million investment, and $8 million
ongoing, in the establishment of new external processes and an in‐
dependent determination of these measures. It was, I think, the
most critical area that needed to be addressed.

We also had to come into compliance with Bill C-65 and the
Canada Labour Code. We have placed a priority upon that, but
there's ongoing work, as the commissioner outlined.

Mr. Glen Motz: Minister, I have a couple more questions that I
want to cover off. I thank you for that answer.

I wonder if you're able to table some of the documents and con‐
sultations you've had and the progress you've made from your min‐
istry and the RCMP with regard to that external review. That would
be great.

The other question I have is in relation to many of the allegations
within the Bastarache report, which indicate very clearly that there
was significant criminality that occurred by members of the RCMP
against other members of the RCMP.

Have you ensured that criminal investigations have been initiated
or have you encouraged that those investigations be initiated
against members of the RCMP who've committed these offences as
highlighted by the Bastarache report?

Let's leave it there. I'll let you answer that one first.
Hon. Bill Blair: This was an issue that I raised directly with Jus‐

tice Bastarache because of those very serious allegations, which he
did not particularize in his report by naming individuals, out of re‐
spect for the victims. As you can imagine, those criminal investiga‐
tions require that we respect the wishes of the victims in those cas‐
es.

Let me also acknowledge to you that I've had a number of dis‐
cussions with Justice Bastarache as well about the inadequate re‐
sponse in the disciplinary processes to deal with what are clearly
egregious behaviours unacceptable within the RCMP. I think it does
highlight the need for a more effective and responsive disciplinary
process, up to and including criminal investigations and charges
where appropriate.

It's also critically important in these matters to respect the wishes
of the victims as these matters are resolved, but certainly those be‐
haviours are totally unacceptable and require a very strong re‐
sponse, up to and including dismissal and criminal prosecution.

Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you, sir. I appreciate that.

Justice Bastarache discovered and reported that many of the
worst offenders within the RCMP in terms of the misconduct were
promoted individuals. He also went on to list that there are 15 serial
offenders, as he described them, who are senior officers.

I guess it begs the question: How many of them still remain ac‐
tive within the RCMP, and what direction have you given to ensure
that those predators are removed from their posts?

Hon. Bill Blair: I don't believe anyone who engages in these be‐
haviours has the right to wear the uniform of the RCMP, and they
need to be dealt with more effectively. The disciplinary process is,
of course, the responsibility of the commissioner, but we've had a
number of discussions about bringing greater rigour to that disci‐
plinary process. Perhaps given more time, she could give you an
explanation of the work she's doing in that regard.

Mr. Glen Motz: Thank you, Minister.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Motz.

Mr. Motz asked for documents, and I didn't hear an undertaking
to table documents.

Mr. Glen Motz: I'm sorry, Chair, if I was remiss in that. I was
cognizant of my limited time. I would ask that those documents be
tabled to the committee.

The Chair: Thank you.

With that, Mr. Fisher, you have six minutes, please.

Mr. Darren Fisher (Dartmouth—Cole Harbour, Lib.): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner, for being here.

Bill, thank you very much for being here and providing this level
of testimony to our committee.

I'm pretty sure I heard you say in your remarks that efforts were
under way to address the paramilitary efforts within the RCMP.

I'm new to this committee and I'm finding that the other members
of this committee certainly have an awful lot more background on
this report. However, to me, the idea of tearing somebody down to
rebuild them in the way that you want them is kind of archaic, and I
can't imagine it not leading to major issues down the road. When
my colleagues were studying this report, they heard from many wit‐
nesses and experts about the need to address this.

I wonder if you could speak to the committee today about this
paramilitary structure that you and the RCMP will be addressing.

● (1700)

Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you very much, Darren.

It's a really important issue, and not just for the RCMP but for all
police organizations right across the country. I think the RCMP rec‐
ognizes that in a modern police service they have to address the en‐
tire merit criteria they apply in hiring people.

I believe that the RCMP recruits outstanding people to their or‐
ganization. However, it's important that we look at the recruitment,
training and deployment of the members to ensure that the culture
is more welcoming to diverse people and to women in the organiza‐
tion. I think that's critically important, and that is the work the
RCMP is undergoing.
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We talked about the diversity and inclusion strategy they are im‐
plementing. One of the things I wanted to highlight for the commit‐
tee is that we actually recruited the commissioner because of what
we believed to be her outstanding ability to bring about change in
the organization. However, let me acknowledge, because I've done
this in another police service, that it's a very difficult challenge.

We've given the commissioner a very explicit mandate, and she's
been working tirelessly. It really begins with leadership—as she's
already indicated—and she's made significant changes within the
leadership of the RCMP. I think it sends a very strong signal about
the importance of diversity and inclusion, a diversity of perspec‐
tives, in policing.

It is going to result in and necessitate—as Justice Bastarache in‐
dicated—a significant reform of police culture, which he referred to
as a “toxic culture”. That reform is well under way under the lead‐
ership of the commissioner, and I believe it's our government's re‐
sponsibility—and all Canadians' responsibility—to support the
RCMP as they go about those important changes in addressing the
culture that Justice Bastarache expressed very understandable con‐
cerns about.

The commissioner has been working tirelessly with her entire
team. Change is steady but slow, and we want to continue to work
hard on it and continue to accelerate that work.

Mr. Darren Fisher: Thank you very much, Bill. That segues
perfectly with my next question for the commissioner.

The report—as you said, Bill—does make it very clear that the
culture within the RCMP is described as “toxic” and that external
forces are needed to address this serious problem. I know this
means an awful lot to the people back home in my riding in Dart‐
mouth-Cole Harbour, and people all across Canada care very much
about this issue.

To the commissioner, what concrete action are you taking to ad‐
dress this? Mr. Motz might have touched on this earlier with a
question to the minister, but is the RCMP consulting with any ex‐
ternal bodies to address this concern, Commissioner?

Commr Brenda Lucki: As the minister alluded to, I was given a
strict mandate to modernize the RCMP and to transform its culture.
Therefore, we've been engaging with numerous external and inde‐
pendent bodies and individuals to address issues around workplace
culture.

Of note, first of all, we have the RCMP management advisory
board, which was established by the government in 2019. They are
there to provide an external advisory function to me on the manage‐
ment and administration of the RCMP. It was given a specific re‐
sponsibility to provide guidance and advice on workplace culture,
and that's the very issue that Justice Bastarache outlines in his re‐
port.

Since its establishment, the board has challenged the RCMP's
thinking and provided thoughtful advice and guidance on a number
of areas. Most importantly, it's been instrumental in the develop‐
ment of the independent centre for harassment resolution, and they
had a specific task force just for that.

There are several initiatives I've launched in the past three years
that have brought culture and management modernization. We've
been engaging groups, individuals and experts, including the Asso‐
ciation of Black Law Enforcers. I have a commissioner's diversity
advisory committee. I have a national indigenous advisory commit‐
tee. I have a lived experience indigenous committee. I have the
Government of Canada joint employment equity committee, the
Serving with Pride group, the Federal Black Employee Caucus and
the Women's Executive Network.

With that, there has been a lot of consultation, and the EDI strat‐
egy provides that clear structure for the concrete actions under way
to address racism and discrimination, and to promote that inclusion
in the RCMP workforce and how the organization will provide ser‐
vice to communities.

We're trying to hit as many people who are impacted by the deci‐
sions we make as possible, so that our decisions are better decisions
and more in tune with those people.
● (1705)

Mr. Darren Fisher: Okay.

Commissioner, you talked about modern recruitment processes.
I'm interested, in just a short period of time, if you can outline
maybe a couple of new ways of detecting bias.

Commr Brenda Lucki: We brought in a screening process
whereby we can, in fact, screen for discrimination and racist be‐
haviours. It's exciting. Before, we'd look at some of the skills and
experience, but now we're looking at character and we're looking at
the implicit bias test in that—so stay tuned.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fisher.

[Translation]

Ms. Larouche, welcome once more to our committee. The floor
is yours for six minutes.

Ms. Andréanne Larouche (Shefford, BQ): Thank you very
much, Mr. Chair.

My thanks to the Minister for joining us. My thanks also to the
Commissioner, Ms. Lucki, for her very interesting opening re‐
marks. This is a matter on which, sadly, we see that a lot of work
remains to be done before we can talk about inclusion and diversity,
and can eliminate the toxic masculinity and the sexualized culture.

As a member of the Standing Committee on the Status of Wom‐
en, I am sometimes discussing these problems in relation to the
Armed Forces. But we are realizing that the culture is also to be
found within the RCMP, as the Bastarache Report unfortunately
proves.

Mr. Minister, in your opening remarks, you said that, despite all
the efforts and the work that has been done, you regret that the
RCMP is not the modern body you want. Could you tell us more
about what, in your opinion, would make the RCMP more modern?

[English]
Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you very much, Madam Larouche, and I

think it's a very important question.
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The RCMP is iconic in Canada and well respected around the
world, but we have seen incidents. The Bastarache report, I think,
revealed to us very clearly that there are elements of the work envi‐
ronment within the RCMP that are not as supportive and welcom‐
ing as they need to be for women and diverse people in the organi‐
zation. I think the commissioner has been engaged in some very
positive work in this regard, but I wanted to acknowledge that
there's a great deal of work that still needs to be done.

We see it as well in our relationship, and it's something we are
very much seized with. Recent events, I think, have brought it
home for all of us. The relationship between the RCMP and diverse
people, particularly indigenous people in this country, is troubled
by a long and difficult history between the RCMP and indigenous
people in Canada, and notwithstanding that there's a great deal of
progress that has been made, there remains a great deal of work to
do.

I think it's important to the principles of reconciliation, but also,
there's nothing more important in the relationship between the po‐
lice and the public they are sworn to serve and protect than trust.
Earning the trust of the people you serve is work that needs to be
done every single day, and it could be lost in a single unfortunate
incident or an individual's inappropriate conduct.

I know that the commissioner remains very strongly focused on
being worthy of Canadians' trust, and we recognize that, in a large
paramilitary organization, there needs to be continuous progress to‐
wards reform. That includes bringing in a greater diversity of per‐
spective within the RCMP, people with different lived experience,
women, indigenous people and people from racialized communi‐
ties. That diversity of perspective will help the organization
progress. The RCMP and the commissioner recognize that, and
they have lots of work to do through recruitment and training on
how we treat the people within the organization.

As I've already mentioned to Mr. Motz, I also think that police
services must be transparently accountable to the people they serve,
and that's why we're working on improving the governance struc‐
ture for policing in the RCMP right across the country.
[Translation]

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Mr. Minister, you were very right to
begin your remarks by offering your condolences to Indigenous
peoples for the tragedy in Kamloops, by which I mean the discov‐
ery of the remains of 215 children. I took part in the debate last
evening, and my thoughts are with the mothers and families of the
deceased. I also offer them my condolences.

Since we are speaking of Indigenous peoples, you talked a lot
about diversity and about the importance of regaining trust in the
RCMP as a major organization. You made a brief comment about
one of the main recommendations, the establishment of an indepen‐
dent body. You mentioned $32 million and said that the work is on‐
going. I would like an update on the status of that important recom‐
mendation.
● (1710)

[English]
Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you very much, Madam Larouche. This

is also a very important question.

The ICHR, which was what was recommended, is being intro‐
duced on June 30. That's when it will actually launch. The RCMP
have been working very hard doing a number of things. The ICHR
is going to focus on prevention, including awareness and education
campaigns. It's going to provide access to training for supervisors.
It is intended to increase trust and address concerns among the
members of the RCMP with a new model, which will be indepen‐
dent and outside of the chain of command. It's going to use external
investigators.

We're developing a roster of expert investigators from outside the
RCMP who will conduct the investigations, reach conclusions and
provide recommendations to restore the workplace. I believe that
the external nature of this and using people outside of the chain of
command will be able to provide assurance to survivors of harass‐
ment within the workplace that their complaints will be taken very
seriously, that they will be believed and supported, and that there
will be no repercussions or retribution for bringing harassment
complaints forward.

I think it's a very important innovation, but it also requires a sig‐
nificant investment in the prevention of and not just the response to
harassment when it occurs in the workplace.

[Translation]

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: All right, as I understand it, it's on
its way.

I would also like to hear from Ms Lucki, who talked about opera‐
tional skills.

Ms. Lucki, could you quickly tell us what you mean by “the right
people doing the right job”?

[English]

The Chair: Unfortunately, we're going to have to hold that ques‐
tion because Madam Larouche is out of time.

Mr. Harris, you have six minutes, please.

Mr. Jack Harris (St. John's East, NDP): Thank you, Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Minister, for joining us. I know your colleague
from Dartmouth—Cole Harbour called you Bill. I'm happy to do
that in private and socially, but since you're here in your official ca‐
pacity as minister of the crown, I will call you minister. We are
looking to you as the person responsible to speak on behalf of the
government and respond to the serious circumstances we're dealing
with.

In response to your question from my colleague from the Bloc,
you said that Mr. Justice Bastarache found that the RCMP were not
as supportive as they needed to be towards women. I would perhaps
call that the understatement of the year, but the year is very young.
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The committee's response to Mr. Bastarache was quite different
from that. In fact, he said about the RCMP that the workplace in‐
cluded systemic patterns of discrimination based on gender, sexual
orientation and race, including toxic workplace cultures character‐
ized by misogyny, homophobia, racism and interpersonal violence
including sexual violence. He said that women and LGBTQ2S peo‐
ple were prevented from receiving promotions, training and work
assignments on an equal basis with other applicants. They had retri‐
bution exacted for attempts to bring forward complaints.

That is not exactly the kind of characterization you gave it.

He went further, and I want you to address this particular point.
He said that he was not confident that change could take place in‐
side the institution itself—and I think the committee members were
struck by the force of that comment that he had no confidence—
and that there was no way forward without some form of sustained,
independent and external pressure.

I want to suggest to you that this shouldn't be coming from mem‐
bers of Parliament and parliamentary committees. This ought to
come from a structure of governance, which you mentioned in rela‐
tion to the contract policing for the RCMP. What about the RCMP
itself? What about an independent oversight board such as those
that civilian police forces across the country are governed by?

Would you be supportive of that as a way of ensuring that there
was sustained, ongoing and independent external pressure to seek
the changes that are necessary?

● (1715)

The Chair: Mr. Harris, before Minister Blair responds, could
you raise your microphone? The interpreters are having consider‐
able difficulty hearing you.

Minister Blair.
Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you very much, Mr. Harris.

First of all, let me be very clear. I did not intend in any way to
minimize what I believe to be the egregious and totally unaccept‐
able behaviour that women and LGBTQ members of the RCMP
were subjected to, as highlighted in the Bastarache report. Those
behaviours are completely unacceptable. If I failed to describe them
and denounce them as clearly as they needed to be, let me please
correct that now because they are completely unacceptable.

I also discussed with Justice Bastarache the need for external
oversight and governance of the RCMP. I think it's a very important
element of public trust that there be sound governance. We're cer‐
tainly working towards that now with the new legislative frame‐
work for indigenous policing, which will enable us to address the
issues of governance for that aspect of service delivery of the
RCMP.

There are a number of other aspects I would highlight for you.
For example, we have and are continuing to work with the com‐
plaints review commission established by our government with re‐
spect to the RCMP. I think significant enhancements need to be
done. I will be bringing forward legislation to bring forward those
enhancements of the complaints review process.

Mr. Jack Harris: If I may interrupt.... Yes, we would like to see
that. We didn't see it in the last iteration of the legislation that was
brought before prorogation.

Let me ask you this. You have also made reference to the ICHR,
which you describe as an independent centre for harassment resolu‐
tion. That sounded to me, with the prevention education and train‐
ing goals, more like the kind of thing that I was involved in, which
was a dispute resolution mediation kind of thing, as opposed to, in
fact, making sure that people who are guilty of serious sexual ha‐
rassment, including instances of rape, for example.... The former
Justice Bastarache identified 131 cases that he was aware of that
qualified as that.

What has been done to ensure that people who have actually
committed serious criminal offences in the course of their interac‐
tions with other members of the RCMP are actually brought to jus‐
tice? What has been done to follow up on that identified problem—
as opposed to a dispute resolution—and in fact, to root out and
make sure that those people who are responsible are actually held
accountable?

Hon. Bill Blair: Mr. Harris, anyone who engages in those be‐
haviours should be prosecuted to the full extent of the law and
should be in jail, and in my opinion has no right to be a police offi‐
cer. The Government of Canada does not conduct criminal investi‐
gations, but I believe that where there is evidence—and again, one
has to respect the wishes of the survivors of these actions in how
we proceed—I am absolutely supportive of holding individuals
who engage in those clearly criminal behaviours to the full account
of the law. They should be brought to justice.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Harris.

Hon. Bill Blair: Again, the government doesn't conduct criminal
investigations, but I'm very supportive of dealing with those indi‐
viduals appropriately.

The Chair: That moves us to our second round. We'll commence
our second five-minute round with Madam Stubbs, Madam
Damoff, Madam Larouche, Mr. Harris, Mr. Van Popta and a Liberal
to be named later.

Go ahead, Madam Stubbs, for five minutes, please.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs (Lakeland, CPC): Thanks, Mr. Chair.

Just following up on my question [Technical difficulty—Editor].

The Chair: You're on mute, Shannon.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: I'm sorry. I have serious rural Internet
connection issues today. Thank you, Chair.

I'll follow up on a point that Mr. Motz made and that Mr. Harris
was ending on.
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Minister, can I get some clarity here? Rather than repeating our
shared outrage about these issues, can you offer some specifics
about the consequences? Are you saying that of the 3,000 com‐
plaints, of the 131 legitimate cases and of the 15 serial perpetrators
and repeat offenders, not one single criminal charge has been laid
and you aren't doing anything about it?
● (1720)

Hon. Bill Blair: Mrs. Stubbs, I'm not a police officer anymore.
The responsibility for conducting criminal investigations and disci‐
plinary investigations resides with the commissioner, so that ques‐
tion is perhaps better directed towards her.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Let's start with you, though, as the min‐
ister accountable to Canadians. What are you going to do about it?

Hon. Bill Blair: I've been working very closely with the RCMP
in bringing about reform in the complaints resolution process with
respect to complaints resolution. We are working with the RCMP to
support the changes that we've asked and directed the commission‐
er to make in her mandate, and are providing her with the support
and resources that she requires to do that.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: You can understand that this seems a bit
curious. Canadians would be looking to you for leadership, espe‐
cially given that, with your government, the Prime Minister and
cabinet ministers have shown a certain propensity for having no
problem getting involved in the decisions of public prosecutions.
However, we'll let your answer stand as it is.

You've mentioned the independent review body being launched
on June 30. First of all, I note that when Justice Bastarache was at
the committee, which was one month after his report had been
made public—it was seven months ago—he hadn't yet spoken to
you. I'm glad to hear, as you said in your opening remarks, that
somehow you've managed to make that happen in the last seven
months. I also note that he said he had spoken to Commissioner
Lucki already. He said:

She recognized that there had been a lack of leadership, and she told me of her
willingness to address all of these issues and of how she was trying to set up a
stronger support for herself in the central administration and even in the supervi‐
sion.... In that sense, there was a better understanding, I think, within the RCMP
of what has to be done.

Just for clarity, that's what Justice Bastarache said about the
RCMP response to the report when you had not yet spoken to him.

Can you confirm what you will do, then, to ensure that there is a
review, that action is taken and that there are consequences, by ei‐
ther the new body that is being set up or some body, for the 3,000
complaints, 131 legitimate cases and 15 repeat offenders?

Hon. Bill Blair: First of all, the government did provide $32
million in funding to establish the ICHR. I've also consulted with
the labour ministry with respect to compliance so that we align with
the Canada Labour Code's workplace harassment and violence pre‐
vention regulations. That is one of my responsibilities. With that
budget, Ms. Stubbs—and you may recall voting against it—we did
provide them with the resources necessary to do that.

We're continuing the work, and I've had a number of discussions
with the commissioner about how to ensure that the ICHR is truly a
fully external body. There is some—

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Okay. I'll ask the commissioner—

Hon. Bill Blair: —additional work to be done, but we are mov‐
ing forward on it.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thanks, Minister. I'll ask the commis‐
sioner about that later. I have another question for you.

I just want to quote from Justice Bastarache's report, on page 48:

Of note are the assaults that took place at the hands of two RCMP doctors. Vul‐
nerable women, applying to the RCMP, their dream career, were subjected to
“prostate” rectal exams; their breasts were felt in a lingering and unprofessional
manner; they were subjected to unnecessary and gratuitous vaginal “exams”.
Nurses were not present. The Assessors were told that some members were
aware of the conduct of these doctors and warned applicants about the doctors
but that nothing was done to discipline them or to protect the vulnerable young
women who were forced to endure these medical examinations.

When I asked Justice Bastarache about that at committee, he said
that these doctors were not part of the scope of the report and he
was “told by government people that they're going to set up another
process like mine for the victims of the two doctors.”

Can you tell me what initiative you have taken to set up and up‐
date us on the status of that new process you've created per Justice
Bastarache's recommendations to deal with the women who were
violated by the doctors?

Hon. Bill Blair: Yes, and I'm pleased to be able to advise you
that we've recently agreed with the RCMP to certify a class action
related to women and men who were sexually assaulted during their
medical examinations and were not covered under the Merlo
Davidson settlement. The matter is taken very seriously. We are
looking at all next steps, but we are certifying that class action, as
was done with the Merlo Davidson settlement. These matters, as
Justice Bastarache indicated, were not covered in that, so we are
addressing them through the secondary process.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thank you.

Specifically what would be the timeline on that?

Hon. Bill Blair: We certified the class action, and as you are
aware, those things do take some time. However, as well, the
RCMP has been informed of this issue with respect to Justice Bas‐
tarache's report.

I'm sure the commissioner can inform you about what steps they
are taking to ensure that there is no continuation of this totally un‐
acceptable situation, and for those who are victims of that be‐
haviour in the past, we certified a class action in order to deal that
appropriately.
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● (1725)

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thank you.

Mr. Chair, I'm assuming I'm done.
The Chair: Madam Stubbs, you did very well on the time.
Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thanks, Chair.
The Chair: Madam Damoff.
Ms. Pam Damoff (Oakville North—Burlington, Lib.): Chair,

before we go to my questions, I have a point of order.

I don't know if my Conservative colleague knew that she was do‐
ing it when she was, but I suspect there are a number of women
watching these proceedings right now. By reading those comments
from the Bastarache report, and I know they're public record and
we all agree that they're shocking, but it can also be very triggering
for women who have survived sexual assault. I just would ask all
members to be very careful as to what they're reading out loud or to
be mindful in the way they ask questions that we probably have
women watching these proceedings who experienced that and
might find it triggering.

Thank you, Chair.
Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Yes. Thank you, member.

Actually, I'll just respond. I thank my colleague for her point. In‐
deed, it is in a public report. It is important that we talk about
specifics and name things when they happen. Also, I would suggest
to my colleague that she shouldn't assume that every one of her col‐
leagues on the committee right now in this meeting doesn't know
intimately exactly what that's like.

Thanks, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Okay. We can settle that point of caution. I don't

necessarily regard it as a point of order.

With that, I have a conflict here. Is Madam Damoff or Madam
Lambropoulos next?

Ms. Pam Damoff: Chair, I'm next.
The Chair: Okay. You have five minutes, please.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Thanks, Chair.

Commissioner Lucki, you shared a quote with me by Kwame
Christian:

The best things in life are on the other side of a difficult conversation. If we can
have the conversation in a better way, we can make meaningful change in the
world around us.

I don't know that we could be having a more difficult conversa‐
tion than the one we are having following the Bastarache report.

I applaud the work you've done and the changes in the senior
ranks and the independent centre for harassment resolution. I guess
my concern is with the rank and file. I just read an article from the
CBC that the RCMP has lost 100 indigenous officers over the last
three years and there are questions of racism.

I read Janet Merlo's book, and much of the harassment she re‐
ceived when she reported I would call “microaggressions”. How
can you ensure that the rank and file of the RCMP are moving
along with you? The changes you've made are important, but when

we read about these things and we hear about these things, you
need to ensure that the rank and file is moving with you.

I just wonder if you could talk about that a bit.

Commr Brenda Lucki: First and foremost, within the rank and
file, part of our initiative involves training, so we have brought in
the cultural awareness and humility course. We've brought in trau‐
ma-informed approaches to victims, as well as anti-racism training.
What is interesting with the anti-racism training is that the only rea‐
son we haven't rolled it out is that it's being done by Canadians who
have been impacted by racism, so we want to make sure that this is
very powerful training. That's part of it: training.

Then, of course, we've rolled out our equity, diversity and inclu‐
sion strategy. That is part of my mandate and the objective to
change the culture and transform the RCMP. There have been a lot
of activities under that umbrella.

We have to make sure, though, that when things happen in the
RCMP and people aren't acting in accordance with our core values,
they will, in fact, be held accountable. The interesting thing about
core values is that we're actually reviewing those core values, and
we're reviewing our core mission statement. They are actually
building that from the bottom up instead of from the top down, so
that there are actually these massive consultation sessions with var‐
ious employees from all of the rank and file so that they will be part
of this.

It's interesting. I didn't think that we would actually make
change, but when I see some of the emails I get.... For example, I
see that they're talking about “Vision 150 and Beyond”, and they
are quoting some of the things we are doing.

I spoke to Linda Davidson. As she's reached out to me, I've
reached out to her on several instances. One of the recent ones was
with regard to the independent centre for harassment resolution,
and I was so happy to hear her comments. We let her review the
policy from start to finish and all the parts that are included in that,
and she was very pleased with the progress. She felt that it was giv‐
ing justice to things that weren't there for the RCMP, so that tells
me that we're doing something right.
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I see it in the tones of the emails. I see it in behaviours, but the
statistics, once we start looking at it.... We're not looking at it as far
as the statistics right now. We're building those foundations,
though, like I said in my opening remarks. When I come and go....
There is nothing worse than doing something and, as soon as I
leave, it's gone. No, it's all about the foundation and building that
strong so that the next person can continue.
● (1730)

Ms. Pam Damoff: I'm going to stop you there because I also
have a quick question for the minister.

I'm pretty sure that Glen Motz would agree with this, but why is
it important, Minister, for parliamentarians and ministers of the
Crown to not be involved in criminal investigations?

Hon. Bill Blair: Actually, it's a founding principle of the RCMP
and of government. As a police officer myself for 39 years.... No
politician, no government, should interfere with determining who
should be investigated or what the outcomes of those investigations
are.

It is a rather interesting question to put to me, as I spent 39 years
of my life conducting criminal investigations, but it's absolutely not
my responsibility, and I'm very respectful. I have ministerial re‐
sponsibility for and oversight of the RCMP, but I do not direct the
commissioner or the RCMP in their operations and, in particular, I
do not direct criminal investigations or the outcome of those inves‐
tigations. That is entirely the independent responsibility of the
RCMP. It's a fundamental principle of Canadian law.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Madam Damoff.

I want to be respectful of everybody's time. The minister is
scheduled to leave in a few minutes.

I think the way we will do this is that Madam Larouche will do
two and a half minutes, and Mr. Harris will do two and a half min‐
utes. Then the minister can excuse himself, and we'll continue on
with the commissioner.

[Translation]

Ms. Larouche, the floor is yours for two and a half minutes.
Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Minister, I would like to go back to a comment you made in
your opening statement.

First, we know that there have been calls for changes in the
RCMP on a number of occasions for more than 30 years. We know
that the culture and the sexual harassment are among the problems.

You mentioned that changes are happening but that they are hap‐
pening slowly. How can we make them happen more quickly?
What do we need to speed up the implementation of the recommen‐
dations in the Bastarache Report? Is more money needed? Is it a
matter of political will or of leadership?

What do we need to speed up these important processes for
changing the culture within the RCMP?

[English]

Hon. Bill Blair: Madam Larouche, I think one of the most im‐
portant elements of your question is about leadership, and it's one
of the reasons we selected Commissioner Lucki as the first woman
commissioner of the RCMP. Commissioner Lucki, I believe, has
been doing some excellent work in bringing a significant change at
the top for her organization, and it is far more reflective....

I would also point out, for example, some of the things that Jus‐
tice Bastarache identified with respect to, for example, maternity
and parental leave within the RCMP. Those are things that, quite
frankly, the traditional, iconic organization that is the RCMP has
been perhaps not as quick and adaptable to as they need to be. En‐
suring meaningful work for women who are expecting children,
providing sufficient human resource funding and backfilling posi‐
tions are a number of very significant things that the RCMP can do
to create a more welcoming environment.

The commissioner is very much seized with modifications
through the equity, diversity and inclusion strategy to bring about
changes in their recruitment, changes in their training and signifi‐
cant changes in the work environment, all of which I believe will
be necessary to and supportive of the diversity the RCMP seeks.

The Chair: You have a few seconds.

I think we'll probably go to Mr. Harris for a final two and a half
minutes.

[Translation]

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Okay.

Since I only have 20 seconds left, I'll keep my question for later.
I wanted to ask Commissioner Lucki again, but I don't have enough
time for it.

Mr. Minister, thank you very much for being with us today.

[English]

The Chair: Well, you'll get another round.

Mr. Harris, you have two and a half minutes.

● (1735)

Mr. Jack Harris: Thank you, Chair.

Minister, you referred to the RCMP as an “iconic” force. Indeed,
it is. It's over 150 years old. It was a colonial force, in fact, a tool of
colonialism in Canada, and it's also a paramilitary force with the
training that goes with that.

Do you think it's time for that to be changed, that we not have
what's been described to our committee as a process that strips
down the individual and builds them back up again in the mould of
the RCMP? Isn't that something that should be tossed away with
the colonial attitude that was present at the time of the incorpora‐
tion of the force, and we should turn to a police service model?
Would the minister agree with that?
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Hon. Bill Blair: Mr. Harris, I very much agree with that. One of
the founding principles of policing is that the police are the public,
and the public are the police. The police truly do have to reflect the
values and the diversity of the people they are sworn to serve and
protect. I think that type of reform, that type of evolution, has been
an important thing for all policing right across the country, and it's
particularly important for such an iconic, tradition-bound organiza‐
tion as the RCMP.

There is very much, I think, for Canadians to be proud of, but the
RCMP has to continue to evolve and to become more reflective,
and frankly, more open. I believe that engaging more fulsomely
with the people they're sworn to serve and protect—

Mr. Jack Harris: Minister, if you agree with that, what do you
think needs to happen to get rid of that paramilitary mindset and
bring about changes from the very start of recruitment to the
RCMP? What needs to happen? What will you do?

Hon. Bill Blair: I would invite you to discuss with the commis‐
sioner in the next round some of the reforms she's bringing about at
Depot, where much of the emphasis at one point in time was placed
upon marching and compliance with that paramilitary structure and
those traditions. It's evolving quite significantly to become far more
inclusive, far more diverse and far more open to working within
communities.

I've watched policing evolve significantly, Mr. Harris, over the
past 40 years. There's still progress that needs to be made, but I be‐
lieve that the commissioner is very much engaged with her senior
management team in bringing about those changes in recruitment,
in training and in the way services are being delivered. A big part
of that is working with the people who are policed by the RCMP,
including in indigenous communities, to ensure that the police ser‐
vices delivered in their communities are respectful of the way in
which they wish to be policed and really develop that relationship
that I spoke of that is so important between the police and the pub‐
lic.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Harris.

At this point, we'll excuse Minister Blair and go on to Mr. Van
Popta for five minutes, please.

Thank you, Minister Blair.
Hon. Bill Blair: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, committee members.
Mr. Tako Van Popta (Langley—Aldergrove, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Commissioner Lucki, it's good to see you. Thank you for being
here. This is a very important discussion that we're having today.

The minister was asked on a couple of occasions about possible
criminal prosecutions, and he pointed out that elected politicians
don't do prosecutions. Of course, I agree with that, but Commis‐
sioner Lucki, what is your opinion on that? Would this be an appro‐
priate situation for appointing a special prosecutor?

If the witnesses Mr. Justice Bastarache and the other investiga‐
tors heard from are to be believed, there was criminal activity, and I
think, for the sake of public confidence in our national police force,

that needs to be taken seriously. What do you say about that? Is this
an appropriate case for a special prosecutor?

Commr Brenda Lucki: The first thing I will say is that there is
no tolerance in my organization for that behaviour, period—full
stop.

In terms of the conditions under which Justice Bastarache went
through the process, there was full confidentiality. Unfortunately,
and I talked about this when it came out, I have no idea who the
offenders are unless the survivors of that activity come forward. It's
unfortunate, but if that behaviour shows itself now, absolutely we
deal with that. We lay charges in those instances. The thing is that
we can't deconflict with what Justice Bastarache said and figure out
who those offenders are, because it was all done in confidentiality.

One message that I really do want to give loud and clear is this: I
need the women to speak out. We're listening. We are creating a
process that will.... We're taking this seriously. That's what the
ICHR is about. They can come forward, but if it's criminal, abso‐
lutely it's paramount that they come forward. It will be investigated.

● (1740)

Mr. Tako Van Popta: Thank you for that.

I find it a little hard to believe that you don't have reasonable and
probable grounds for having an investigation. Mr. Justice Bas‐
tarache said in his report that it was an open secret, not just in the
last six months or couple of years but going back many years, that
there was sexual harassment going on. This never would have stood
in the private sector. Something would have happened.

What do you say about that?

Commr Brenda Lucki: We don't know what we don't know, un‐
fortunately. If these complaints are not brought forward...and they
don't have to be brought forward by the person who is the victim of
those complaints. They can be brought forward in any form. We
will do a fulsome investigation if it's an internal process. If it's
criminal, we will seek outside resources to do a criminal investiga‐
tion. We will bring that to the court.

When you talk about special prosecutors, we don't need special
prosecutors. It's the court. It's a Criminal Code offence. It will be
brought to Canadian courts and charges will be laid. People will be
held to account if the evidence is there.

Mr. Tako Van Popta: I have a question about the report itself.
When I read it, I was shocked, as I'm sure many Canadians were, at
how pervasive sexual discrimination and abuse is in the RCMP. As
Mr. Justice Bastarache said, it's not new. It's been going on for
many years.

Commissioner Lucki, I have a great deal of respect for you and
your career. Having been in the RCMP or police services for so
many years, were you shocked by what that report said?
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Commr Brenda Lucki: Oh, my goodness, absolutely I was
shocked.

Everybody has a journey. I've had a journey. It was so difficult to
see what some people had to go through and how long it took for
their concerns to be heard.

I talked to Linda Davidson before the report came out. When she
told me, “You know, I love the RCMP, but nobody would listen,”
that tore my heart. I vowed that this would never happen again, ev‐
er—not on my watch, anyway.

That's exactly why I brought in—
Mr. Tako Van Popta: Thank you. I think we were all shocked.

Are you confident that the initiatives you're now starting will be
effective in restoring the public's confidence—and pride, I might
add—in the RCMP? I was brought up to be very proud of my
RCMP. This report was not only shocking. It was also very disap‐
pointing.

The Chair: Unfortunately, we will have to save the answer to
that good question for the next round.

With that, Ms. Lambropoulos, you have five minutes, please.
Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos (Saint-Laurent, Lib.): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner Lucki, for being with us today. It
must not be easy to reconfront something that was already shocking
to everybody. I can't imagine how it must have felt for you, some‐
one who is heading the organization and who is the commissioner
of the RCMP.

I'm a little newer with regard to this. I did read the Bastarache
report. I was able to ask him questions when he came to committee.
I have a question with regard to how complaints work.

The way I understand it, the RCMP investigates the complaint it‐
self. To whom does the complaint go? Who receives the complaint
once someone comes forward?

Commr Brenda Lucki: Thank you for that question.

If you're speaking specifically to the harassment complaints, the
ICHR has been set up as a separate entity. Any other complaints
outside the harassment process go through our code of conduct pro‐
cess. Of course, criminal complaints go a whole different route.

With harassment specifically, what we've done with the ICHR is
to bring it out of the chain of command. We've brought in external
investigators. The external investigators aren't part of the RCMP.
They've been procured through government processes. They will do
the complete investigation. They will come to a conclusion. Once
the conclusion is made, it will be brought back to a conduct author‐
ity outside of the chain of command if there is, in fact, discipline to
be dealt with. If there is no discipline to be dealt with.... Obviously
we try to deal with things at the lowest level through a referral to an
informal conflict management program if we can, but if not, it goes
through that whole investigation.

It's important that this process is accessible, timely and supports
that accountability. The biggest part of it, as well, is the restoration
of the workplace. In the initial instances, we may in fact move peo‐

ple out of their workplace. We may have to move individuals who
have allegations of this behaviour against them out of the work‐
place to restore it the workplace and make sure it is safe.

That's the process in general terms. I could pass it over to Mr.
Stringer, our chief administrative officer, who was instrumental in
creating this process with our management advisory board, if you
need more information.

● (1745)

Ms. Emmanuella Lambropoulos: Thank you.

Before we go on to Mr. Stringer, I have a second question. After‐
wards, Ms. Johnson and Mr. Stringer can chime in as well.

First of all, it seems that not many people came forward, as you
said yourself, until it was completely confidential and someone on
the outside was doing the investigation. A lot of the women made
reference to the fact that they didn't feel they could come forward
because they would be punished. They felt that the people doing the
harassing were actually getting rewarded and it was some sort of
clique, an old boys' club type of thing.

What—concretely—is being done to counter this? I mean, you
spoke a lot about the culture and the things that you're doing at the
top to change things so that once you're gone, the next person who
takes your seat can continue the change. Obviously, we want the
change to continue.

What—concretely—is being done to make people feel comfort‐
able, feel like they can come forward and feel like they aren't going
to be punished for coming forward? How can you entice and en‐
courage women to come forward if they are afraid that their career
is in jeopardy or that no one is going to be on their side?

Commr Brenda Lucki: That is a great question. Thank you for
that.

First of all, the RCMP prohibits acts of reprisal or retaliation.
Employees who engage in retaliation against a complainant, a re‐
spondent, a witness, an investigator or even a decision-maker will
be subject to disciplinary or conduct measures up to and including
dismissal. We take it really seriously.

The new ICHR process has clear and accessible information on
the policies. We expect the reports of reprisals to be resolved ac‐
cording to the Canada Labour Code regulations. We also have to
look at education, prevention and awareness, and we have to pro‐
mote employee trust, of course. That's important. We have to make
sure that this process is fair, people are taken seriously and they
need not fear any reprisals.

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Lambropoulos.
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With that we complete the second round. We're starting the third
round.

Mr. Kurek, you have five minutes, please.
Mr. Damien Kurek (Battle River—Crowfoot, CPC): Thank

you very much, Mr. Chair. I appreciate the commissioner and the
witnesses for coming to the committee today.

Commissioner, I found my colleague Mr. Van Popta's question
very poignant. In one notable part of the report, I read about the
grievous culture of sexual assault within the Musical Ride. In my
childhood, I remember going and being excited about the horses
and seeing a significant amount of Canadian pride represented
there. That's a massive challenge.

I'd like to give you the opportunity to conclude or to answer Mr.
Van Popta's question. Are the measures that have been taken thus
far—that you've described in part and that the minister has de‐
scribed other aspects of—enough to restore accountability, give jus‐
tice to the victims and ensure that Canadians can have pride in the
RCMP?

● (1750)

Commr Brenda Lucki: Thank you for that.

There is no one measure that's going to be a panacea. When I
was describing at one committee about training, it's not just about
training. Of course it's not going to change our culture, nor is one
event, but it's a series of events and it's building that foundation.

First of all, it's getting the right people in the door, making sure
they have the right character, testing for bias and anti-racist be‐
haviour, and then bringing them into our organization, training
them, teaching them the core values, training them on the conse‐
quences of not adhering to the core values and firming those up
through a cadet field-coaching program. Then it's an entire suite of
leadership training and leadership development not only of supervi‐
sors but also for them to be able to hold others to account. It's the
policies and procedures, changing those, and then using the exter‐
nal expertise. There's this whole suite of foundational pieces.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Thank you very much, Commissioner. I ap‐
preciate that.

Because we have very limited time within the committee, would
it be possible for you to table with the committee some of those
documents and some of the recruitment mechanisms that you've
referenced? Certainly I'd be very curious to see what that looks
like, and I'm sure others on the committee would as well, some of
the other measures that you're talking about so that members of the
committee could see that.

Frankly, I found it quite astounding that the minister talked quite
a bit about the future, and I understand that's certainly the way that
policy is effected, but to your knowledge, have there been any ter‐
minations resulting from sexual misconduct in the RCMP from the
actions outlined in the Bastarache report?

Commr Brenda Lucki: I can't tie that specifically to the Bas‐
tarache report, because I don't know who those people are. I know
that one of the—

Mr. Damien Kurek: If I could broaden that, then, in the last sev‐
en months or so, have there been any investigations initiated or
charges laid against members of the RCMP for sexual misconduct?

Commr Brenda Lucki: Yes, there have.

For some of our statistics, if I go to 2019, for example, when I
talk about sexual misconduct files, there were 50 files initiated, and
out of those 50, 16 were established. Out of those, we had some
voluntary discharges where people resigned or quit the RCMP, and
in those cases, we had 11 that were dealt with in serious disci‐
plinary measures, which can go from demotion to greater financial
penalties, permanent transfer or dismissal.

I do say, though, for many people, when it gets to that part of the
hearing, there are people who resign.

Mr. Damien Kurek: Have there been RCMP officers or mem‐
bers found guilty, yes or no?

Commr Brenda Lucki: Yes.
Mr. Damien Kurek: I have one final question here, as I have a

few seconds.

How many of Justice Bastarache's recommendations have been
fully implemented thus far?

Commr Brenda Lucki: I will get you that number.

Some of them we've grouped into themes. I'm just looking at the
numbers here.

All of the recommendations have been worked on and imple‐
mented in spirit. I say that because one example is day cares in de‐
tachments, which is not possible, but we need to look at measures
to provide day care for parents in the RCMP and women who have
children. We need to be able to provide that day care. It won't be
within a detachment, for example, but we are pursuing all recom‐
mendations.

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

Rather than our letting you struggle with trying to be more pre‐
cise, could you undertake to the committee to give us as precise a
response as possible to Mr. Kurek's question?

With that, we'll turn to Madam Khera for five minutes, please.
Ms. Kamal Khera (Brampton West, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.

Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner Lucki, for being here.

I know how difficult it is for everyone to be talking about this
very troubling report. As I've said before, it is one of the most trou‐
bling and shocking reports that I've certainly ever read.

My colleague Mr. Kurek actually ended his questioning with the
one that I wanted to get at first: Out of the 52 recommendations
made by the Bastarache report, how many have been adopted?

Can you also speak to the specific changes you've started to ad‐
dress in terms of this misogynistic, racist and homophobic toxic
culture within the RCMP?
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● (1755)

Commr Brenda Lucki: In regard to your first question, we are
looking at and implementing all recommendations, some of them
not specifically as written by Justice Bastarache but in other ways,
in a more holistic approach, like I said, for example, with the day
care. There's a full commitment to all recommendations.

Ms. Kamal Khera: Thank you for that.

Commissioner, I also wanted to just talk briefly about the exist‐
ing sanctions regime. I was informed that the conduct measures
guide was last updated in 2014. Clearly, much has changed during
that time. Can you perhaps expand on how this review could be re‐
flective of the developments that have occurred since then?

Commr Brenda Lucki: That's a great question. We are doing a
full review of the conduct measures regime. We are looking at the
sanctions. Like you said, they were done in 2014, and we are hiring
an external expert in that field to go through and to make sure that
it's to today's modernization standards and that it's in line.

I could pass that over to Mr. Stringer. That's his area that he's
working on.

Mr. Kevin Stringer (Chief Administrative Officer, Royal
Canadian Mounted Police): Thank you for that. I'm happy to add
to that.

As the commissioner said, when we saw the recommendations
from Justice Bastarache, there were a number of them that spoke to
strengthening the sanctions regime. There were a few very specific
areas. We did take a look at our conduct measures guidance, and
that's where we outline, if this happens, this is the discipline. We re‐
alized, as was pointed out in the question, that this was last updated
in 2014. Even the language didn't speak to some of the issues that
we're facing today.

The view is setting up the ICHR but at the same time taking a
look at the conduct and the sanctions regime and making sure that
we're looking at what other police organizations are doing, plus
other organizations. We're measuring what we have against what
was in the report from Justice Bastarache and, as the commissioner
said, making sure that it meets with the expectations of the public,
the commissioner and employees in 2021 and going forward.

Ms. Kamal Khera: Thank you for that.

Commissioner Lucki, the Bastarache report also found that there
were structural inequalities that prevented women and members of
the LGBTQ2S+ community from receiving promotion, training and
work assignments on an equal basis with other applicants. I'm sure
that you would agree that one way to address that is having that di‐
versity at the leadership level.

Since the release of the report, have there been any changes
made to have that diversity and to have promotions of standing of
women and LGBTQ2S+ individuals within the RCMP?

Commr Brenda Lucki: Absolutely. At the senior level, for ex‐
ample, you see on the screen our chief human resource officer, Gail
Johnson, and our associate human resource officer, who helped cre‐
ate the EDI strategy, Nadine Huggins. We have a member of our
LGBTQ community who is our chief strategic and external rela‐
tions officer.

In the RCMP, we have 15 commanding officers. I used to say
that we had almost 50% female, but now I can say that we have
60%. There are more females than there are males.

When you used to see the senior executive table, it used to be,
like I said, white male police officers. Now you'll see diversity. Al‐
so, in the category of employees, they're not all police officers.
We've brought in a female chief financial officer. We have brought
in Kevin Stringer, who is a senior expert civilian. Gail Johnson and
Nadine Huggins are not police officers either. We're getting not just
diversity in the traditional sense but diversity of ideas and thoughts.

I would really like to pass it to Nadine, because she is so good
at—

● (1800)

The Chair: Unfortunately, you've left her no time to be passed
to.

Commr Brenda Lucki: I got too excited.

Ms. Kamal Khera: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Khera.

[Translation]

Ms. Larouche, the floor is yours for two and a half minutes.

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Perhaps I can have Ms. Huggins speak.

Ms. Lucki, you have talked about the efforts you have made to
develop parity and equity. You talked about it as one of the mea‐
sures you have put in place to combat what has been happening for
30 years in the Army in terms of discrimination, sexual harassment
and problems with regard to the various LGBTQ2S+ communities.
What would you have wanted Ms. Huggins to tell us about that?

Ms. Nadine Huggins (Executive Director, Human Resources
Policies, Strategies and Programs, Royal Canadian Mounted
Police): Thank you very much for giving me the opportunity to
speak to you today.

I will just be talking about our strategy for equity, diversity and
inclusion.

[English]

I'll say that the commissioner has spoken a lot about foundation.
The EDI strategy that we've developed actually is one of the core
bricks in our foundation. Like many institutions across the public
service and across Canada, we've been on a path and now the
RCMP has set a place and it's building a new foundation for our or‐
ganization.
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The EDI strategy is established along four pillars. One is around
providing the appropriate leadership and governance. Second is to
be clear, accountable and transparent in the tactics that we're
putting in place. Third, we are enhancing the education and aware‐
ness of our organization from the ground up. All of these, taken to‐
gether, will contribute to the culture change that the commissioner
has been talking about.
[Translation]

That will change the culture of the RCMP. We have taken the
time to really reflect on it, to hold discussions with independent ex‐
perts, employees and external committees, in order to develop a
document and adopt an approach to equity, diversity and inclusion
that will truly change our organization.

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: You have 10 seconds.
[Translation]

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Ms. Lucki, you talked about the
right people doing the right job.

How will that help to change the culture within the RCMP?
[English]

The Chair: Answer very briefly, please.
[Translation]

Ms. Nadine Huggins: I feel that—
Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Ms. Lucki, in your opening remarks,

you talked about the importance of having the right people doing
the right job. I was giving you the opportunity to use the rest of my
time.

Why is that important in changing the culture within the RCMP?
[English]

The Chair: Unfortunately, Madam Larouche is out of time.
Hopefully, you will have another opportunity to answer that.

Mr. Harris, you have two and a half minutes.
Mr. Jack Harris: Thank you, Chair.

Commissioner Lucki, I'm glad to have an opportunity to speak to
you.

I have to say, I am a little shocked that you were shocked at Jus‐
tice Bastarache's report.

I've had a look at your bio and you and I are both graduates of
the University of Alberta, which is wonderful. I see you have 35
years of experience in the RCMP. You've been decorated with the
Order of Military Merit and various other decorations in a consider‐
ably great career in the RCMP.

Janet Merlo's book was written in 2013, and there were other
women speaking out at that time about difficulties in the RCMP.

I'm just wondering, when Justice Bastarache says there was a
toxic culture of misogyny, homophobia and racism, including sexu‐
al violence, and talked about retribution as part of this culture

against people coming out with complaints, how could you be
shocked? Did you miss that along the way? It's an honest question.
I am just curious about that.

Commr Brenda Lucki: It's a fair question.

I was shocked, I think, by the scale of it. I was shocked by the
fact that so many women were too scared to come forward, and it
took this to come forward. I was shocked by the fact that nobody
listened.

When I talked to Linda Davidson, it was a game-changer for me.
If you talked to her, you wouldn't even know that she was one of
the survivors. She just said, “You know what, Commissioner? No‐
body was listening.” I was shocked by that because I said, “How
can that happen?” How could people not listen to things like that?
That's disgusting and we need to change that. How can we make it
safe for those people to come forward?

It really put fuel in my fire, that report.

We've been working on a lot of things. Most of the recommenda‐
tions in those reports, we've already been working on because the
recommendations were not a shock.

What was a shock was some of the stories and the fact that we
don't have a mechanism where people feel safe to come forward.
That's why you have my full commitment to that and to making our
RCMP the most inclusive and the most diverse we can be, and to
making it a place that's welcoming and that allows people to flour‐
ish in our organization so that not only will they come to our orga‐
nization, but they will stay and they will flourish and they will not
leave because they're dissatisfied, or they will not leave hurt and
broken and sad, and treated like that. That can't happen.

● (1805)

The Chair: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Harris.

Madam Stubbs, you have five minutes, please.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thanks, Mr. Chair.

Thanks for being here, Commissioner Lucki.

I still want to know what will be done about the people, the cases
identified in Justice Bastarache's work. Here's the question I'm
wondering about: Can you foresee or would you commit to figuring
out a way that this independent body that's going to be...? I guess
you can't relay whether it's going to be independent, but for whoev‐
er is giving input into how this independent body is going to work,
can there be some consideration that it be given the power to
retroactively deal with the findings in Bastarache's report?

Tangential to that, if you can't comment on that part, do you
think there is insufficient information or insufficient evidence in
Bastarache's report to launch an internal investigation within the
RCMP, particularly with regard to these 15 repeat offenders? I
think it's literally the business of the police on a daily basis to iden‐
tify repeat offenders.
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I'm very glad to hear about the work going forward, and I look
forward to ongoing reporting about that, but I'm still concerned
about doing justice for those people.

Commr Brenda Lucki: Yes, I agree with you. I am absolutely
concerned as well.

I notice that one person spoke about the investigations in Bas‐
tarache. There was no investigation. These were testimonies. Some
were hand-written and submitted, and when they got to a higher
level, there were interviews, but they weren't your classic interview
that we would do for evidence. They were determining the level of
harm that the person experienced. It wasn't evidentiary, and besides
that, all of those interviews and any paper documents have been de‐
stroyed.

That was part of the agreement. It was completely confidential,
so we don't know who came forward. They were all numbered and
it was under lock and key, so to be able to follow up on that is im‐
possible. That's why internally we've asked people to come for‐
ward. Some of my internal broadcasts have been put on Facebook
for some of the females to see, with the help of Linda Davidson.
There has been talk also since the last time I spoke about Bas‐
tarache.

The only thing I can do is to call on people to come forward. If
anything criminal has happened to you, please come forward to
your police of jurisdiction. You don't even have to come to the
RCMP. If you need help or you need support, you should come to
us and we will give you that help. We will give you that support.

I have had people come forward with events, but they haven't
been part of the Merlo Davidson settlement, just separate ones, and
they now have the courage to come forward because they are see‐
ing action. They're seeing a process that will be able to deal with
them. It's something that we're taking seriously, absolutely.

I wish I could say.... We did do a scrub-down when we heard
that. When Justice Bastarache testified and said that there were re‐
peat offenders, we did a scrub-down of our entire process for any‐
body who had been in the system, but of course if Bastarache is re‐
ferring to people who have behaved badly and haven't been report‐
ed, investigated or put through any process, then we don't have it.
We've only done the scrub-down of the ones who were in the sys‐
tem.
● (1810)

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Okay. Thank you, Commissioner. I wish
you and the RCMP well. I believe that you're sincere about making
this change. I hope you receive the political support, the resources
and the will you need to get that done in this institution. I certainly
have family members and friends who are both administrative sup‐
port and RCMP officers within the institution. I think it's important
for all Canadians.

Chair, at this time, I'm just going to move a motion because I
know that all of us here on this committee share our shock and our
outrage, but I know that—

The Chair: Can we hold that motion until we've finished with
Madam Damoff? Then I'll open up the floor to you to move that
motion.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Yes. Here's what I'm wondering: Could I
move it now, and then we can proceed with additional questions on
behalf of all the members and come back to it, or would we come
back to me right after, before I move—

The Chair: Just to maintain some level of order, my thought
would be that we finish with Ms. Damoff, you move your motion
and then presumably some debate would follow from that.

I just take note that we are eating into the time that we have
available with the commissioner.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Chair, if I can do that before we move
into any in camera meeting at the end of it, that's perfectly fine with
me.

The Chair: Madam Damoff, you have five minutes, please.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Thanks, Chair.

Commissioner, we haven't talked a lot about Depot. One of the
things that was also in the Bastarache report was that the toxic cul‐
ture actually started at Depot. As a result, the folks that join the
RCMP get trained in this toxic culture right from day one.

I have a couple of questions. What are you doing to change the
culture at Depot? Will the independent centre for harassment reso‐
lution be available to recruits who are doing the training at Depot?

Commr Brenda Lucki: I'm glad you asked that question be‐
cause Depot is a regular member's first experience of the RCMP.
It's where our culture does in fact start. When recruits learn at De‐
pot, how they learn it will impact them as a police officer. We need
to get that right, absolutely.

We started off with a new chief learning officer who has been ap‐
pointed to strengthen the national standard, the coordination and the
oversight for the RCMP learning, including the Depot moderniza‐
tion. That chief learning officer has been mandated to work with
experts and conduct what we call a full level-three evaluation of the
cadet training program. That's to ensure that the curriculum is re‐
flecting the needs in the field. It will also include that GBA+ lens
that we like to use to ensure the content is inclusive, doesn't inten‐
tionally reinforce stereotypes and reflects modern reality.

We do have plans as well. We're very lucky that we have the
First Nations University of Canada right there in Regina. We're
partnering with them to review all of the indigenous content and the
cultural awareness curriculum.

When we do anything with gender-based violence, missing and
murdered women or anything indigenous, we always bring outside
experts in to present the material, so that people get a better sense
of how the people are impacted by what police do each and every
day.

We're also working to assess that paramilitary aspect that we
spoke about. We're ensuring that we can look at some of the
paramilitary parts. If parts promote pride or team building, we'll
look at those and keep those. If they are not promoting things that
are conducive to our core values, we will not keep them in our cur‐
riculum.
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To answer your question about the ICHR, yes, in fact the cadets
will be able to report complaints.

I'd like to throw it over to Gail Johnson because she's actually the
person in charge of our training academy. She's done a lot of work
on that.
● (1815)

Ms. Gail Johnson (Chief Human Resources Officer, Royal
Canadian Mounted Police): Thank you, Commissioner, Mr. Chair
and committee members.

With respect to Depot, we have a lot of work under way. We are
examining the culture of Depot from a number of aspects.

The commissioner has mentioned the paramilitary nature of the
organization. We did have an assessment done by our evaluation
group to look at the paramilitary nature of Depot to see if it had an
impact on the culture of the organization and the work that we need
to do to make sure we have a modern and inclusive training acade‐
my.

It's under review right now because we've received the prelimi‐
nary findings. We're continuing to look at the report, but in the
meantime we're looking at the total number of hours that are spent
on the paramilitary aspects of activities at Depot. We want to make
sure that we have an optimal balance between that and the other
cadet training elements. We're also developing an approach so that
we clearly communicate the purpose and the desired outcomes of
all paramilitary activities to ensure cadets understand how the
skills—

Ms. Pam Damoff: I have another quick question for the com‐
missioner. I'm going to stop you there because my time's almost up.

I want to follow up on something that Mrs. Stubbs asked.

Commissioner, will the independent centre be able to investigate
on behalf of these women from the past? Would they be able to file
complaints through there?

Commr Brenda Lucki: Yes. The independent centre will deal
with the harassment complaints—

Ms. Pam Damoff: That's only current complaints, though.
Commr Brenda Lucki: No.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Commissioner, let's say someone has left the

RCMP. Would they be able to go there? Could you think about
that? I think there's still a fear of coming forward. If someone was
an RCMP officer, is there some way for these women to have a
place to come forward? I think that's what Shannon was getting at.

In terms of what you're doing, moving forward is great, but for
the women and LGBTQ2S who are survivors of sexual violence
and assault, is there a way for them to have a process? Perhaps you
can think about that.

Commr Brenda Lucki: If it is criminal, there is no prescribed
time, and it doesn't have to come back into the organization. If it's
sexual assault or any type of behaviour like that, that would go to
the police of jurisdiction and there is no timeline on that.

The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Pam Damoff: Sometimes people need support to come for‐
ward.

The Chair: Thank you, Madam Damoff.

Before I turn it over to Mrs. Stubbs for her motion, the chair has
a reflective concern based on Justice Bastarache's report.

We've paid out $125 million. I don't know whether that's out of
the RCMP's budget or whether it's out of Public Safety's budget,
but one way or another, it's the taxpayers of Canada who paid
out $125 million on 3,000-plus claims. The commissioner of the
RCMP has no idea to whom the money was paid and has no idea
whether the perpetrators, at a level of criminality or less than crimi‐
nality, are still in the midst of the force. All documents have been
destroyed, and there's no real possibility of any clinical justice, in
the Criminal Code sense of the word, coming out of this situation,
absent the initiative of those who are the victims.

Do you see that as a very poor state of affairs?
Commr Brenda Lucki: I see that as the cards dealt when we

deal with civil litigation, which isn't remedial or isn't forward-lean‐
ing that way. It is simply a reimbursement for harm that has been
caused.

For me, the silver lining to this is the report, getting at least some
of the ideas. The recommendations weren't surprising, but they re‐
inforced what we needed to do. There were some things that came
forward that we weren't specifically focused on but that we are now
focused on.

It really gave the survivors a voice, and that was why it was so
confidential. It was interesting. I gave Justice Bastarache the oppor‐
tunity. I asked him, through the lawyers, of course, if he was going
to do a draft report that we could respond to, so that we could give
him some context on some of the issues, and he absolutely forbade
that.

I couldn't understand why, because all the different kinds of re‐
views that we get through audit committees always do that. I under‐
stand now. If he had refuted some of the voices because of some of
the information I gave him, that wouldn't have given them their
voice. That was what this activity or this lawsuit was about, giving
those members a voice.

It came out loud and clear again when I talked to Linda Davidson
about how she finally had a voice. She was finally able to tell her
story in hope that it would result in changes in the organization, and
that's where I come in.
● (1820)

The Chair: I don't take issue with the process for giving these
claimants a voice. What I take issue with is that there seems to be
little or no consequences, except for the taxpayers of Canada, who
have to put up $125 million. All we have at this point are initiatives
to go forward, which everyone on this committee would applaud,
but the consequences for the perpetrators seem to be exceedingly
modest.

I'll leave it there. Having listened to an hour and a half worth of
testimony, I had to express myself.
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Mr. Glen Motz: Chair, if I may, I want to thank you for express‐
ing that. I think that's the frustration of many Canadians who have
read this report and understand where we're at.

Yes, the victims need a voice and I agree with that, but we still
have the potential and the possibility that there are continued vic‐
tims currently in the RCMP, because those perpetrators remain in
the RCMP, and in some cases, as the report has indicated, their ac‐
tions are serial in nature. As Mr. Harris and others have mentioned,
and you as well, Commissioner, there has to be a way—there has to
be a way—besides your internal memos to your members, that we
can get rid of this scar and that those who are responsible can be
held responsible in some way.

We won't get all of them, and I appreciate that the evidence
threshold is totally different in this context as opposed to the report
that he put together, but I would encourage you to do everything
moving forward, as the chair has indicated, so that those responsi‐
ble for these actions are held accountable and that any further ones
who come under the new process face the full extent of the law and
face those measures.

Thank you for your time, Chair.
The Chair: Thank you.

With that, I'm assuming, Madam Stubbs, that we can release the
commissioner in order for you to move your motion.

Thank you for coming before the committee. I can only imagine
that this has been difficult for you, but it's been exceedingly diffi‐
cult for many others as well.

Thank you for coming.
Commr Brenda Lucki: Thank you for the opportunity to show

that we are committed to making that change. We're not going let
you down.

The Chair: Thank you.

With that, we'll release the commissioner and her colleagues and
move to Madam Stubbs, taking into account that we also have set
aside 15 minutes in camera for some conversation.

Shannon, go ahead.
Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: I'll speak at my usual rapid-fire pace that

causes such grief for the poor interpreters.

To end on that note, thanks, Chair, Pam and Glen for the ques‐
tions and the summary that you made there at the end. That's exact‐
ly what I was trying to get at. I'm totally mind-boggled by this. I
have no doubt that each and every one of us, regardless of our party
affiliation, wants to see actual action on this and actual conse‐
quences. I think all of us are still deeply concerned about what will
happen in terms of justice for the victims and consequences for the
perpetrators.

Anyway, I'll get—
● (1825)

The Chair: Shannon, I know you're speaking very rapidly and
you can probably cover in two minutes what the rest of the us
would cover in 20, but we do have a hard stop at 6:30 p.m. That's
entirely my fault.

Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Okay, I'll move this motion.

Here's my motion, which I'm thinking and hoping we'll all sup‐
port and get done so that we can get some action and a report back
to Parliament and to Canadians on these issues.

I move:
That the House of Commons Standing Committee on Public Safety and National
Security, in response to Merlo-Davidson settlement report (the Bastarache Re‐
port) titled “Broken Dreams Broken Lives” by retired Justice Michel Bastarache,
considers the response of the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Pre‐
paredness and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) to be insufficient
given the seriousness of criminal activities and sexual misconduct in the RCMP,
and since this inaction is detrimental to the integrity of our national law enforce‐
ment service, the communities they serve and the integrity of our criminal jus‐
tice system, the committee:

1. adopt and submit the Bastarache Report and its recommendations as a report
to the House;

2. report to the House its recommendation that the Government withhold all per‐
formance pay and bonuses for executives and managers at both the RCMP and
Public Safety Canada until the executives and managers implement the Bas‐
tarache report recommendations that fall within their authority;

3. calls upon the Commissioner of the RCMP to provide a detailed report to the
committee before June 23, 2021, on all ongoing actions and planning to imple‐
ment the recommendations of the Bastarache Report, including timelines for im‐
plementation and ongoing work to meet the recommendations, and further calls
for this report be updated and provided to the committee by the last Friday of
each month until the committee is satisfied that the RCMP has met its obliga‐
tions;

4. encourages the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness not to
interfere or tamper with the reports referred to in subsection 3, but be provided a
copy at the appropriate time by the Commissioner; and,

5. direct the Chair to call a meeting of the committee on the Bastarache Report if
any updates requested in subsection 3 are not provided on time.

The Chair: The motion is in order, even though there's no 48
hours' notice, because it arises out of the business of the committee.

We are down to three minutes. That hardly gives any opportunity
to discuss the report, but first of all, I'm not quite sure if I saw
Pam's hand up first and then Andréanne's—

Ms. Pam Damoff: I was second.
The Chair: You were second, so Andréanne is first.

Madam Larouche, go ahead.
[Translation]

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Would it be possible to have that
motion in writing so that we can take it all in?

Ms. Andréanne Larouche: Pardon?
[English]

The Chair: I'm assuming that is possible. It was moved verbally,
so I'm assuming you do have a French copy, Shannon.

The answer is yes.

Pam, go ahead.
Ms. Pam Damoff: Thanks, Chair.

We were all deeply upset by the Bastarache report, but also, the
end of the meeting saw co-operation in the ways that all parties
want to move forward on this.
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Having Shannon read it and not having had a chance to digest it,
I would move, given it's 6:29, Chair, that we adjourn and then the
motion can be distributed to all of us.

The Chair: That's probably a motion that is in order and non-de‐
batable, and I think we don't have that much choice, since our re‐
sources end at 6:30.

Is there any wish to vote on this or will we just accept it as is?

Okay, I think we put this off to a further debate.
Mr. Jack Harris: I don't think we can do much more if we have

a hard stop. I believe that Shannon, in her exuberance, used up

whatever time there was and has taken us a little bit by surprise
with the detail, so I guess we'll have to think about it.

● (1830)

The Chair: Okay, we have a meeting on Monday. I'll try to fig‐
ure out where to put it on the agenda, because it does affect other
things that we have in play.

With that, unfortunately, we have to adjourn, unless my clerk
says something to the contrary.

Seeing nothing, the meeting is adjourned.
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